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1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. 38 statutorily deisgnated heritage assets were
identified within the 250-meter radius of the site using
information derived from the National Heritage List.
This appendix outlines the National List Entries (Historic
England) of these heritage assets.

1.2. The site remains within the Regent’s Canal Conservation
Area (LB Camden, designated in 1974 and extended in
1981, 1983, 1984 and 1985) and Camden Town
Conservation Area (LB Camden, first designated in
November 198 6, extended in 1997) remains directly
south of the site. Maps of these conservation areas is
included at Figure 2.

Site boundary

I 250m radius

Grade |l listed buildings

Figure 1. Heritage constraints - Listed Buildings
Source: Ettwein Bridges Architects (December 2018)
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Figure 2. Heritage constraints — Conservation Areas
Source: Ettwein Bridges Architects (December 2018)
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1. CHURCH OF ST MICHAEL

ETTWEIN BRIDGES

ARCHITECTS

2. WAR MEMORIAL AT THE CHURCH OF ST MICHAEL

IoE Number: 476823

Location: CHURCH OF ST MICHAEL, CAMDEN ROAD (north side), CAMDEN TOWN, CAMDEN, GREATER LONDON
Photographer: David Lovell

Date Photographed: October 2014

Date listed: 10 June 1954

Date of last amendment: 10 June 1954

Grade II*

Church. Nave & aisles 1880-1, chancel 1893-4 by GF Bodley and T Garner. Vestries added 1908. Yellow stock brick with stone
dressings; tiled roof. 7-bay aisled nave with clerestory and sanctuary. Decorated Gothic style. North-south orientated. EXTERIOR:
entrance on (liturgical) north facade, where tower originally intended. Liturgical west end fronting road with pointed 5-light
traceried window above which a belfry in the gable apex; stone and brick bands flanking window and clasping buttresses at
angles. Flanking aisle ends with pointed 2-light traceried windows, right hand with ogee doorway and hood-mould. Flying
buttresses over aisles, above which a pointed 3-light traceried window to each bay. Projecting vestries at (liturgical) south-east
corner. INTERIOR: of stone with continuous, stenciled waggon roof to nave and chancel, vaulted above north chapel, from
liturgical east to west broken by stone arches (necessitating the external flying buttresses). 5-bay nave with aisles, 3-bay chancel
with shorter north chapel, south chancel aisle filled by organ and passage to vestries. No chancel arch, a manner much preferred
by Bodley in his later churches. Chancel retains altar from 1880-1, reredos bears stencil work from 1880-1 and a later (probably
1939) decorative scheme of Christ in Majesty, set on Bodley's favourite marble steps; sedilia on south wall. Brass in chancel
floor to Edward Bainbridge Reynolds (1844-1907), founding incumbent, 1908. Parclose screen between chancel and chapel of
1893-4, filled with stone tracery to Bodley's design in 1898. Chapel with Easter sepulchre having gilded canopy and hanging
lamp, altar and reredos with marble panels. Organ in south aisle purchased 1932. The church given dado panelling to Bodley's
characteristic design in 1893-4; this links the new and old work. Reading desk (undated) and pulpit (1910) on line of chancel
steps. Statue of St Michael, 1939. Floor is several steps below the level of Camden Road, with stone flags to aisles. Vestries in
more perpendicular style. Clergy vestry panelled with vestment chests. The choir vestry simpler - retained vestry chest at time
of listing, but now no longer in situ.

J947 GRAND UNION HOUSE, 20 KENTISH TOWN ROAD, LONDON NW1 9NX

IoE Number: 1431860

Location: CHURCH OF ST MICHAEL, CAMDEN ROAD (north side), CAMDEN TOWN, CAMDEN, GREATER LONDON
Photographer: Charles Watson

Date Photographed: December 2016

Date listed: 5 Jan 2016

Grade Il

The First World War Memorial at St Michael’s Church, Camden Town, of 1920, is listed at Grade Il for the following principal
reasons: * Historic interest: as an eloquent witness to the tragic impact of world events on the local community, and the
sacrifice it made in the conflicts of the C20; * Design: an elegant and well-crafted memorial formed of a crucifix set upon the
foliage capital of a tapering shaft and an octagonal pedestal; * Group value: with the Grade II* listed St Michael’s Church.

First World War memorial. Erected in 1920 to the design of Clement William Jewitt.

DESCRIPTION: the war memorial stands in the churchyard of St Michael’s Church. It is situated immediately south-west of the
church and adjacent to Camden Road. The memorial comprises a crucifix set upon the foliage capital of a c.4m high tapering
octagonal shaft with a moulded base. The top arm of the cross carries an elaborately carved canopy. At the centre of the shaft is
an inscription quoting from the Jesus Prayer: JESU MERCY. The shaft rests upon an octagonal pedestal 0.8m high and two-tiered
octagonal base 0.7m high. Encircling the base of the shaft is the inscription: GREATER LOVE HATH NO MAN THAN THIS, THAT A
MAN LAY DOWN HIS LIFE FOR HIS FRIENDS. The pedestal carries eight panels upon which are inscribed, along with those on
the base, 100 names of the Fallen. The upper tier of the base carries the inscription: ‘1914 FOR ENGLAND 1919'.
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3. NUMBERS 18-62 AND ATTACHED RAILINGS, 18-62 CAMDEN ROAD

- i s o EEERE

IoE Number: 476817

Location: NUMBERS 18-62 AND ATTACHED RAILINGS, 18-62 CAMDEN ROAD (south east side), CAMDEN TOWN, CAMDEN,
GREATER LONDON

Photographer: Mr Adrian Hull

Date Photographed: 09 October 2004

Date listed: 14 May 1974

Date of last amendment: 14 May 1974

Grade Il

CAMDEN TQ2983NE CAMDEN STREET 798-1/77/160 (West side) 14/05/74 Nos.119-129 (Odd) and attached railings GV Il
Terrace of 6 houses. Early C19. Yellow stock brick with rusticated stucco ground floors. 4 storeys and basements. 2 windows
each, No.119 with 3 blind windows return to Greenland Road. Round-arched doorways with patterned fanlights, cornice-
heads and panelled doors. Gauged brick flat arches to recessed sashes; 1st floor with cast-iron balconies. Stucco cornice at
3rd floor level; parapet above attic storey. INTERIORS: not inspected. SUBSIDIARY FEATURES: attached cast-iron railings with
spearhead finials to areas except No.119 with C20 railings.
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4. NUMBERS 119-129 AND ATTACHED RAILINGS, 119-129 CAMDEN
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IoE Number: 476826

Location: NUMBERS 119-129 AND ATTACHED RAILINGS, 119-129 CAMDEN STREET (west side), CAMDEN TOWN, CAMDEN,
GREATER LONDON

Photographer: Mr Adrian Hull

Date Photographed: 09 October 2004

Date listed: 14 May 1974

Date of last amendment: 14 May 1974

Grade Il

CAMDEN TQ2983NE CAMDEN STREET 798-1/77/160 (West side) 14/05/74 Nos.119-129 (Odd) and attached railings GV Il
Terrace of 6 houses. Early C19. Yellow stock brick with rusticated stucco ground floors. 4 storeys and basements. 2 windows
each, No.119 with 3 blind windows return to Greenland Road. Round-arched doorways with patterned fanlights, cornice-heads
and panelled doors. Gauged brick flat arches to recessed sashes; 1st floor with cast-iron balconies. Stucco cornice at 3rd floor
level; parapet above attic storey. INTERIORS: not inspected. SUBSIDIARY FEATURES: attached cast-iron railings with spearhead
finials to areas except No.119 with C20 railings.
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5. NUMBERS 7 TO 41 AND ATTACHED RAILINGS, 7-41 GREENLAND ROAD

ETTWEIN BRIDGES

ARCHITECTS

6. NUMBERS 6 AND 8, GREENLAND ROAD

IoE Number: 477891

Location: NUMBERS 7 TO 41 AND ATTACHED RAILINGS, 7-41 GREENLAND ROAD (north side), CAMDEN TOWN, CAMDEN,
GREATER LONDON

Photographer: Mr Adrian Hull

Date Photographed: 30 October 2004

Date listed: 14 April 1974

Date of last amendment: 14 April 1974

Grade Il

CAMDEN TQ2983NW GREENLAND ROAD 798-1/77/701 (North side) 14/05/74 Nos.7-41 (0Odd) and attached railings GV II
Terrace of 18 houses. Mid C19, restored c1976 as a GLC renovation scheme. Yellow stock brick with rusticated stucco
ground floor and plain stucco 1st floor band. Nos 11-21 and 31-43 slightly projecting. 3 storeys and basements. 2 windows
each. Square-headed, recessed doorways with pilaster-jambs carrying cornice-heads; fanlights and panelled doors.
Recessed sashes; ground floor of No.7 with good cast-iron window guard, upper floors architraved: Nos 7 & 9 with cornices
to 1st floor. Cast-iron balconies to 1st floor windows. Stucco cornice and blocking course except Nos 9, 19 & 21 and 37-41
where the cornices have been cut back. INTERIORS: not inspected. SUBSIDIARY FEATURES: attached cast-iron railings with
bud finials to areas.

J947 GRAND UNION HOUSE, 20 KENTISH TOWN ROAD, LONDON NW1 9NX

IoE Number: 477887

Location: 6 AND 8 GREENLAND ROAD (south side), CAMDEN TOWN, CAMDEN, GREATER LONDON
Photographer: Mr Adrian Hull

Date Photographed: 30 October 2004

Date listed: 14 May 1974

Date of last amendment: 14 May 1974

Grade Il

CAMDEN TQ2983NW GREENLAND ROAD 798-1/77/700 (South side) 14/05/74 Nos.6 AND 8 GV Il 2 terraced houses, originally
with contemporary shopfronts. Mid C19, restored c1976 as a GLC renovation scheme. Yellow stock brick with rusticated stucco
ground floors. 3 storeys. 2 windows each. Square-headed doorways with fanlights and C20 doors. Recessed sashes; ground
floor replacing shopfronts of which consoles remain on No.8. Upper floors architraved 4-pane. No.8, stucco cornice and
blocking course; No.6, stucco parapet, cornice cut back. INTERIORS: not inspected.
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7. 14 GREENLAND ROAD

IoE Number: 477894

Location: 14 GREENLAND ROAD (south side) CAMDEN TOWN, CAMDEN, GREATER LONDON
Photographer: Mr Adrian Hull

Date Photographed: 30 October 2004

Date listed: 14 May 1974

Date of last amendment: 14 May 1974

Grade Il

CAMDEN TQ2983NW GREENLAND ROAD 798-1/77/703 (South side) 14/05/74 No.14 GV |l End of terrace house. Early
C19. Yellow stock brick and stucco ground floor with plain stucco 1st floor band. Corner site with angle bowed. 3 storeys
and cellar. 2 windows. Wooden double shopfront with entrance on corner having C20 part-glazed double doors. Slightly
projecting shop windows with C20 glazing; boxed out entablature with projecting cornice, broken back at corner. Plain,
square-headed house entrance to right of shop window on Carol Street return. Recessed, architraved sashes; 1st floor with
console bracketed cornices. Stucco cornice at 2nd floor level. Parapet. INTERIOR: not inspected.
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8. NUMBERS 16 TO 22 AND ATTACHED RAILINGS
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IoE Number: 477897

Location: NUMBERS 16 TO 22 AND ATTACHED RAILINGS, 16-22 GREENLAND ROAD (south side), CAMDEN TOWN, CAMDEN,
GREATER LONDON

Photographer: Mr Adrian Hull

Date Photographed: 30 October 2004

Date listed: 14 May 1974

Date of last amendment: 14 May 1974

Grade Il

CAMDEN TQ2983NW GREENLAND ROAD 798-1/77/704 (South side) 14/05/74 Nos.16-22 (Even) and attached railings GV Il
Terrace of 4 houses. Early C19, restored c1976 as a GLC renovation scheme. Yellow stock brick with rusticated stucco ground
floor and plain stucco 1st floor band. 2 storeys and basements. 2 windows each. Round-arched doorways with patterned
fanlights and panelled doors. Ground floor sashes segmental-arched. Architraved 1st floor sashes, originally with console
bracketed cornices. Cornice replaced by plain stucco parapet band. INTERIORS: not inspected. SUBSIDIARY FEATURES: attached
cast-iron railings with tasselled spearhead finials to areas.
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9. NUMBERS 24 TO 34 AND ATTACHED RAILINGS
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IoE Number: 477899

Location: NUMBERS 24 TO 34 AND ATTACHED RAILINGS, 24-34 GREENLAND ROAD (south side), CAMDEN TOWN,
CAMDEN, GREATER LONDON

Photographer: Mr Jason Wen

Date Photographed: 04 February 2007

Date listed: 14 May 1974

Date of last amendment: 14 May 1974

Grade Il

CAMDEN TQ2983NW GREENLAND ROAD 798-1/77/705 (South side) 14/05/74 Nos.24-34 (Even) and attached railings GV
Il Terrace of 6 houses. Early C19, restored c1976 as a GLC renovation scheme. Yellow stock brick with rusticated stucco
ground floor and plain stucco 1st floor band. 3 storeys and basements. 2 windows each. Round-arched doorways with
patterned fanlights and panelled doors. Ground floor sashes segmental-arched. Architraved sashes to upper floors; 1st floor
with console bracketed cornices and good cast-iron balconies having anthemia and scroll motifs. Cornice replaced by plain
parapet band. INTERIORS: not inspected. SUBSIDIARY FEATURES: attached cast-iron railings with foliated spearhead finials.

J947 GRAND UNION HOUSE, 20 KENTISH TOWN ROAD, LONDON NW1 9NX
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10. NUMBERS 107-117 CAMDEN STREET

IoE Number: 476825

Location: 107-117 CAMDEN STREET (west side), CAMDEN TOWN, CAMDEN, GREATER LONDON
Photographer: Mr Adrian Hull

Date Photographed: 09 October 2004

Date listed: 14 May 1974

Date of last amendment: 14 May 1974

Grade Il

CAMDEN TQ2983NW CAMDEN STREET 798-1/77/159 (West side) 14/05/74 Nos.107-117 (Odd) GV Il Terrace of 6 houses.
Early C19. Yellow stock brick with rusticated stucco ground floors. End houses slightly projecting. 3 storeys and basements. 2
windows each. Round-arched doorways with patterned fanlights and panelled doors. Entrances to Nos 107 and 117 in recessed
side porticoes. Gauged brick flat arches to recessed sashes; 1st floors with cast-iron balconies. Stucco cornice and blocking
course. INTERIORS: not inspected.
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11. DRINKING FOUNTAIN IN ST MARTINS GARDENS 12. CHARLES DIBDIN MEMORIAL IN ST MARTINS GARDENS
IoE Number: 476832
Location: DRINKING FOUNTAIN IN ST MARTINS GARDENS (RECREATION GROUND), CAMDEN STREET, CAMDEN TOWN, IoE Number: 476830
CAMDEN, GREATER LONDON Location: CHARLES DIBDIN MEMORIAL IN ST MARTINS GARDENS (RECREATION GROUND), CAMDEN STREET , CAMDEN TOWN,
Photographer: Mr Adrian Hull CAMDEN, GREATER LONDON
Date Photographed: 09 October 2004 Photographer: Mr Adrian Hull
Date listed: 01 July 1998 Date Photographed: 09 October 2004
Date of last amendment: 01 July 1998 Date listed: 11 January 1999
Grade I Date of last amendment: 11 January 1999

Grade Il
CAMDEN TQ2983NW CAMDEN STREET 798-1/77/166 Drinking fountain in St Martin's 01/07/98 Gardens (Recreation CAMDEN TQ2983NW CAMDEN STREET 798-1/77/165 Charles Dibdin Memorial in St Martin's Gardens (Recreation Ground) GV
Ground) GV Il Drinking fountain situated inside the gardens opposite the main gate. Late C19. Granite on a cobbled set. Il Celtic cross memorial. 1889. Erected by the Kentish Town Musical Society in memory of Charles Dibdin, composer who died in
Rectangular plinth, with top of angles chamfered, supporting a ringed column surmounted by an urn. 1814. Stone. Rectangular plinth with bowed out pedestal supporting a Celtic cross, with nimbus, carved on the shaft with a lyre

and anchor on a pile of rope which unfolds into Celtic patterning. Central cherubim; arms with rosettes and further patterning;
beaded nimbus.
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13. FORMER CHAPEL TO ST MARTIN IN THE FIELDS ALMSHOUSES

IoE Number: 476639

Location: FORMER CHAPEL TO ST MARTIN IN THE FIELDS ALMSHOUSES, BAYHAM STREET (east side), CAMDEN TOWN,
CAMDEN, GREATER LONDON

Photographer: N/A

Date Photographed: N/A

Date listed: 14 May 1974

Date of last amendment: 14 May 1974

Grade Il

CAMDEN TQ2983NW BAYHAM STREET 798-1/77/61 (East side) 14/05/74 Former chapel to St Martin-in-the Fields
Almshouses GV Il Former chapel to St Martin-in-the-Fields Almshouses (qv), situated centrally at rear of houses. 1880-81.
By H Jacques. For the Parish of St Martin-in-the-Fields. Yellow stock brick with red brick and stone dressings; slated hipped
roof with decorative red ridge tiles. Single storey with 3 bays and hexagonal sanctuary with projecting side chapel on north
side. Gothic style with lancets having trefoil heads. INTERIOR: converted into house with floored-over gallery. Red and white
striped banding on pointed chancel arch and above 3 pointed windows at east end. Open timber roof. Some encaustic floor
tiles at east end. HISTORICAL NOTE: Jacques was responsible for a scheme of improvements to the almshouses in 1880-1
that also included an infirmary and matron's residence. The former chapel forms a group with St Martin-in-the-Fields
Almshouses (qv). (Survey of London: Vol. XXIV, King's Cross Neighbourhood, St Pancras part IV: London: -1952: 136).
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14. ST MARTIN IN THE FIELDS ALMSHOUSES, NUMBERS 1-9

IoE Number: 476638

Location: ST MARTIN IN THE FIELDS ALMSHOUSES, NUMBERS 1-9, BAYHAM STREET (east side), CAMDEN TOWN, CAMDEN,
GREATER LONDON

Photographer: N/A

Date Photographed: N/A

Date listed: 14 May 1974

Date of last amendment: 14 May 1974

Grade Il

CAMDEN TQ2983NW BAYHAM STREET 798-1/77/60 (East side) 14/05/74 St Martin-in-the-Fields Almshouses, Nos.1-9
(consec) GV Il Terraced almshouses. 1817-18. By Henry Hake Seward. For the Parish of St Martin-in-the Fields. Built by |
Tomling. Yellow stock brick and slate roofs. Symmetrical 2 storey terrace. Projecting, pedimented centre (No.5) having 3
windows. Flanking houses, 2 windows each (1 blind). Centre with pink granite columns having foliated capitals and shaped
imposts with trefoil enrichment supporting shallow slated roof over entrance and flanking canted bays. Panelled doors under
toplights in plain surrounds. Recessed 4-pane sashes, ground floor bays with gauged red brick flat arches. Oval blind oculus in
tympanum. Flanking houses with square-headed doorways, fanlights and panelled doors. Gauged brick flat arches to recessed
4-pane sashes, those above entrances being blind. Slab chimney-stacks rise from party walls. Original, shaped cast-iron
rainwater heads. INTERIOR: several interiors now opened up. HISTORICAL NOTE: the almshouses were erected to house up to

70 poor widows or spinsters of the parish of St Martins-in-the-Fields. St Martin-in-the-Fields AlImshouses and Chapel (qv), form
a group. (Survey of London: Vol. XXIV, King's Cross Neighbourhood, St Pancras part IV: London: -1952: 136).
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15. ST MARTINS GARDENS (RECREATION GROUND) ST MARTINS GARDENS (RECREATION GROUND) 16. 12, GREENLAND ROAD
WROUGHT IRON GATES

""Eg;_ifﬁ

IoE Number: 476834

Location: ST MARTINS GARDENS (RECREATION GROUND), PRATT STREET, CAMDEN TOWN, CAMDEN, GREATER LONDON
Photographer: Mr Anthony Rau

Date Photographed: 12 November 2007

Date listed: 14 May 1974

Date of last amendment: 14 May 1974

Grade Il

TQ2983NW CAMDEN STREET 798-1/77/164 St Martin's Gardens (Recreation 14/05/74 Ground) wrought-iron
gates

Includes: St Martin's Gardens (Recreation Ground) PRATT STREET. Pair of wrought-iron gates. Early C19 with C20
additions. Gates with scroll design; overthrow with lettering "St Martins" in wrought-iron. HISTORICAL NOTE:
formerly St Martin-in-the-Fields Burial Ground, consecrated 1805, closed 1856; opened as public gardens 24 July
1889 by the Countess of Rosebery who also unveiled a monument to Charles Dibdin (qv). Pratt Street entrance
originally with cast-iron gates with posts surmounted by Greek urns, removed post 1974.

J947 GRAND UNION HOUSE, 20 KENTISH TOWN ROAD, LONDON NW1 9NX

IoE Number: 477893

Location: 12 GREENLAND ROAD (south side), CAMDEN TOWN, CAMDEN, GREATER LONDON
Photographer: Mr Adrian Hull

Date Photographed: 30 October 2004

Date listed: 14 May 1974

Date of last amendment: 14 May 1974

Grade Il

CAMDEN TQ2983NW GREENLAND ROAD 798-1/77/702 (South side) 14/05/74 No.12 GV |l Terraced house & former
shop, now the Neighbourhood Advice Centre. Early C19. Yellow stock brick with stucco ground floor and plain
stucco 1st floor band. Corner site. 3 storeys. 1 window and 2 windows on Carol Street return. Wooden double
shopfront with entrance on corner having part-glazed C20 doors and fanlight. Projecting windows with large panes;
boxed out entablature with projecting cornice. To left of shop window on Carol Street facade a segmental-arched
sash. Upper floors with gauged brick flat arches to recessed sashes except C20 casements to Greenland Road facade.
Parapet. INTERIOR: not inspected.
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17. NORTH ROAD BRIDGE OVER THE GRAND UNION CANAL, CAMDEN 18. NUMBERS 2-8 AND RAILINGS TO AREAS, 2-8 BONNY STREET
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IoE Number: 476824 IoE Number: 476748
Location: NORTH ROAD BRIDGE OVER THE GRAND UNION CANAL, CAMDEN ROAD, CAMDEN TOWN, CAMDEN, Location: NUMBERS 2-8 AND RAILINGS TO AREAS, 2-8 BONNY STREET (south side), CAMDEN TOWN, CAMDEN, GREATER
GREATER LONDON LONDON

Photographer: Miss Patricia Philpott ARPS
Date Photographed: 09 April 2005

Date listed: 15 October 1998

Date of last amendment: 15 October 1998

Photographer: Mr Adrian Hull
Date Photographed: 09 October 2004
Date listed: 11 January 1999

Date of last amendment: 11 January 1999 Grade Il

Grade |l

CAMDEN TQ2984SW CAMDEN ROAD 798-1/66/158 North Road Bridge over the Grand Union Canal Il Public CAMDEN TQ2984SW BONNY STREET 798-1/66/1862 (South side) 15/10/98 Nos.2-8 (Even) and railings to areas GV Il 4
road bridge over the Grand Union Canal. c1816-20 with later alterations. Brick and stone. Single elliptical arch. terraced houses. c1840-45. Stock brick with slate roofs over stuccoed ground floor with channelled rustication. Three storeys
Brick band and solid parapet and piers, with stone coping. Bridge deck strengthened in late C19 by insertion of and basements. Nos 6 and 8 with small-paned glazing bars under gauged brick heads; some margin lights to Nos 2 and 4.

Ground-floor windows with canted heads under channelled voussoirs. Original doors with round-arched top lights, in architrave

cast-iron girders. C20 steel staircase interrupting west parapet. X -2 ; -
surrounds. INTERIOR not inspected. SUBSIDIARY FEATURES: railings to areas with spearhead finials.
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19. NUMBERS 32 TO 53 AND ATTACHED RAILINGS
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20. NUMBERS 24-29 AND 31-37 INCLUDING NUMBERS 33A AND 33B

IoE Number: 478760

Location: NUMBERS 24-29 AND 31-37 INCLUDING NUMBERS 33A AND 33B, 24-29, 31-37, 33A AND 33B LYME STREET
(south side), CAMDEN TOWN, CAMDEN, GREATER LONDON

Photographer: Mr Steve Kirkland

Date Photographed: 05 August 2007

Date listed: 14 May 1974

Date of last amendment: 14 May 1974

Grade Il

CAMDEN TQ2984SW LYME STREET 798-1/66/1086 (South side) 14/05/74 Nos.24-29 AND 31-37 (Consecutive) including

Nos.33A and B GV Il Factory flanked by 12 paired workers' houses. 1852-1855. Grey brick with yellow stock brick dressings.

EXTERIOR: No.31 (the factory): Classical style in brick. 4 storeys and semi-basement, 3-window centre flanked by 3 storeys
and semi-basement, 2-window slightly recessed wings. Central brick portico with rusticated pilasters carrying entablature;
doorway with fanlight and panelled door. Dentil band at 1st floor level, continuing across flanking bays. 4 pilasters, flanking
segmental-arched tripartite windows, rise from 1st floor to terminate in dentil cornice capitals above 2nd floor windows,
then continuing to simplified dentil entablature with central portion of frieze stuccoed. 3rd floor windows with stuccoed
aprons. Brick dentil pediment with small square-headed window in tympanum and bracketed stucco feature on apex.
Flanking wings with rusticated quoins to ground floor being slightly wider than upper floors and connected at angle with
stucco bracket. Impression of pilasters given by dentil cornice capitals between 2nd floor window arches. Dentil enriched
parapets with similarly enriched chimney-stacks on return walls. Nos 24-29 & 32-37 (workers' houses): 3 storeys and semi-
basements with 1 window each and 2 storey 1-window entrance bays. Rusticated brick quoins and vertical recessed strips
articulating party walls. Round-arched doorways with stucco keystones and impost bands, fanlights and panelled doors.
Single light round-arched sashes with stucco keystones and impost bands at 1st floor level above doors. Ground floor
sashes of 3 round-arched lights, each with stucco impost bands and central light with stucco keystone. Similar 2-light
sashes to upper floors (both lights with stucco keystones); 2nd floor with narrower lights, breaking through the parapet
with Lombard type frieze to terminate in small gables. Nos 28, 29, 33a, 34, 35 & 36 with good cast-iron window guards to
ground floor. INTERIORS: not inspected.

J947 GRAND UNION HOUSE, 20 KENTISH TOWN ROAD, LONDON NW1 9NX

IoE Number: 477220

Location: NUMBERS 32 TO 53 AND ATTACHED RAILINGS, 32-53 GEORGIANA STREET (north side), CAMDEN TOWN, CAMDEN,
GREATER LONDON

Photographer: Mr Steve Kixrkland

Date Photographed: 29 May 2005

Date listed: 14 May 1974

Date of last amendment: 14 May 1974

Grade Il

CAMDEN TQ2983NW GEORGIANA STREET 798-1/77/554 (North side) 14/05/74 Nos.32-53 (Consecutive) and attached railings
GV Il Terrace of 22 houses. Early C19, restored late C20 as a GLC renovation scheme. Yellow stock brick with rusticated stucco
ground floor and plain stucco 1st floor sill band. EXTERIOR: 3 storeys and basements. 2 windows each; No.38, 1 window over
segmental-arched vehicle entrance; No.53 with bowed corner treatment and 1-window return to Lyme Street. Nos 32-35,
square-headed doorways with pilaster-jambs carrying cornice-heads; fanlights and panelled doors. Nos 36-53, round-arched
doorways with pilaster-jambs carrying cornice-heads; fanlights and panelled doors. Entrance to No.53 on return. Nos 32-35,
square-headed ground floor sashes with margin glazing; Nos 36-52 ground floor windows segmental-arched; No.53 square-
headed replacing mid-C19 shopfront. Upper floors with gauged brick flat arches to recessed sashes; Nos 32-35, 38 and 53,
architraved, No.53 with console bracketed cornices to 1st floor. All except No.38 with cast-iron balconies to 1st floor windows.
Stucco cornices to Nos 41-44, 46 & 49; others having been cut back and No.52 with brick parapet. INTERIORS: not inspected.
SUBSIDIARY FEATURES: attached cast-iron railings with tasselled spearhead finials to areas.
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271. CAMDEN ROAD STATION, CAMDEN ROAD

G i g
e

IoE Number: 476822

Location: CAMDEN ROAD STATION, CAMDEN ROAD (west side), CAMDEN TOWN, CAMDEN, GREATER LONDON
Photographer: Ms Frances Ottaway

Date Photographed: 18 April 2005

Date listed: 11 January 1999

Date of last amendment: 11 January 1999

Grade Il

Includes: Nos.13-23 Camden Road Station BONNY STREET. Station. 1870. By EH Horne. For the North London Railway.
Yellow stock brick with stone dressings. EXTERIOR: 3 storeys. Single bay entrance front on angle between Camden Road and
Bonny Street: arched opening with lunette of circular tracery within gauged arch, dentil cornices at first and second floor
level, parapet. Camden Road elevation contains shopfront on ground floor set below 2 brick arches; granite drinking
fountain in form of a pylon to north, below railway bridge; parapet inscribed in sunken letters CAMDEN TOWN STATION.
Bonny Street elevation: 4 arched windows per floor, with herringbone brick infills to first storey lunettes over stone
mullions; parapet has panel inscribed in sunken letters NORTH LONDON RAILWAY. The station complex continues west
along Nos 13-19 Bonny Street with offices and former waiting rooms above goods stores, all faced in the same yellow brick,
with arched windows and stone mouldings. Royal College Street elevation: projecting Classical arched entrance with a pair
of four-panel doors below fanlight; cornice has guttae of cut brick. INTERIOR: triangular booking hall has coffered roof with
central cast-iron column. Booking office inserted 1984 replacing earlier, and of no interest. Original stairs with cast-iron
rails leading up to both platforms. West-bound platform retains its projecting canopy supported on cast-iron columns with
ornamental spandrels. HISTORICAL NOTE: this station was opened in December 1870, replacing an earlier station of 1850
on a different site. It is the only survivor of the Italianate brick station buildings erected in the 1870s along the North
London Railway to replace the original wooden buildings of the line, and one of the few suburban stations of the period to
survive in London. The extent of the ancillary buildings along Bonny Street suggests that this was a busy station of some
prominence. Renamed Camden Road station in 1950, the station was refurbished in 1984 by British Railways and the
Greater London Council. (Buck G: A Pictorial Survey of Railway Stations: London: -1992: 154-155; National Railway
Museum: North London Railway. A Pictorial Record: York: -1979). CAMDEN TQ2984SW ROYAL COLLEGE STREET 798-
1/66/1761 No.223 Camden Road Station Il See under: Camden Road Station CAMDEN ROAD.

J947 GRAND UNION HOUSE, 20 KENTISH TOWN ROAD, LONDON NW1 9NX
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22. 8,9 AND 10 IVOR STREET

IoE Number: 472458

Location: 8, 9 AND 10 IVOR STREET (north side), CAMDEN TOWN, CAMDEN, GREATER LONDON
Photographer: Mr Jason Wen

Date Photographed: 04 February 2007

Date listed: 11 January 1999

Date of last amendment: 11 January 1999

Grade Il

TQ 2984 SW IVOR STREET (North side) 798-1/66/1861 Nos.8, 9 AND 10 11.01.199 Il Terrace of three houses. 1836-7.
Stuccoed brick, tiled roofs. Double fronted, three-bay houses with central doors; two storeys high. Parapets, with recessed
panels to Nos. 9 and 10; Nos. 8 and 9 with moulded cornices; all with protruding first flor band. All windows have glazing bar
sashes in moulded architrave surrounds. Doorcases with floreate roundels and hoods on console brackets, the latter to No.8
renewed. All with three-panel rectangular toplights, Nos. 9 and 10 with six-panel doors. INTERIORS not inspected. Source St
Pancras Poor Law Rate Books, 1836-
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23. NUMBERS 162-168 AND ATTACHED RAILINGS

TV

IoE Number: 476827

Location: NUMBERS 162-168 AND ATTACHED RAILINGS, 162-168 CAMDEN STREET (east side), CAMDEN TOWN, CAMDEN,
GREATER LONDON

Photographer: Mr Anthony Rau

Date Photographed: 29 January 2007

Date listed: 14 May 1974

Date of last amendment: 14 May 1974

Grade Il

CAMDEN TQ2884SE CAMDEN STREET 798-1/65/161 (East side) 14/05/74 Nos.162-168 (Even) and attached railings GV II
Pair of semi-detached houses. Early C19. Yellow stock brick. 3 storeys and basements. 2 windows each. Round-arched
ground floor openings. Nos 162, 166 & 168 with rusticated stucco side porticoes. Fanlights and panelled doors. No.164
with cast-iron hoods to windows and originally to entrance. Plain stucco bands at 1st floor level. Gauged brick flat arches to
recessed sashes; 1st floor with cast-iron balconies. No.164, 1st floor with rare survival of wooden verandah having 3 round
arches, intricate fretwork detail, trellis ends and metal hood. Parapets. INTERIORS: not inspected. SUBSIDIARY FEATURES:
attached cast-iron railings with urn finials to areas. (Survey of London : Vol. XIX, Old St Pancras and Kentish Town: London: -
1938: 50).

J947 GRAND UNION HOUSE, 20 KENTISH TOWN ROAD, LONDON NW1 9NX
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24. NUMBERS 4 TO 20 JEFFREY’S STREET AND NUMBER 10 PROWSE PLACE AND ATTACHED RAILINGS

IoE Number: 478519

Location: NUMBERS 162-168 AND ATTACHED RAILINGS, 162-168 CAMDEN STREET (east side), CAMDEN TOWN, CAMDEN,
GREATER LONDON

Date listed: 14-May-1974

Grade I

Includes: No.10 PROWSE PLACE. Terrace of 10 houses. Early C19. Yellow stock brick (2nd floors mostly refaced) and
stucco ground floors (Nos 12-20 rusticated) with 1st floor band. No.20 cement faced. 3 storeys and basements. 2
windows each. Round-arched ground floor openings. Doorways with cornice-heads; Nos 4, 6 and 10 with fluted
quarter columns, fanlights (No.20 patterned, No.6 with intersecting tracery) and panelled doors. C20 entrance to
No.10 Prowse Place. Recessed sashes to ground floors, Nos 6, 12, 14 & 20 with intersecting tracery. Upper floors
with segmental arches to recessed sashes except Nos 8-14 with stuccoed flat arches. No.18 with all C20 glazing. All
with cast-iron balconies to 1st floor windows. Parapets. INTERIORS: not inspected. SUBSIDIARY FEATURES: attached
cast-iron railings with urn or acorn finials to areas. No.10 Prowse Place was listed on 30/01/76 (formerly No.2
Jeffrey's Street).
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25. NUMBERS 3 TO 9 AND ATTACHED RAILINGS 26. NUMBERS 1 AND 1A AND ATTACHED WALL
L

IoE Number: 478518
Location: NUMBERS 3 TO 9 AND ATTACHED RAILINGS, JEFFREY'S STREET, CAMDEN TOWN, CAMDEN, GREATER IoE Number: 478517
LONDON Location: NUMBERS 1 AND 1A AND ATTACHED WALL, 1 AND 1A JEFFREYS STREET (north side), CAMDEN TOWN, CAMDEN,
Date listed: 14 May 1974 GREATER LONDON
Grade I Photographer: Miss Patricia Philpott ARPS

Date Photographed: 09 April 2005

Date listed: 14 May 1974

Date of last amendment: 14 May 1974

Grade Il
2 pairs linked semi-detached houses. Early C19. Stucco fronts with brick returns. Slated pitched roofs with CAMDEN TQ2884SE JEFFREY'S STREET 798-1/65/937 (North side) 14/05/74 Nos.1 AND 1A and attached wall (Formerly Listed
central tall slab chimney-stacks. 2 storeys and basements. 3 windows, central bays blind. Entrances in round- as: JEFFREY'S STREET No.1) GV Il Semi-detached house formed by the rear elevation of No.46 Kentish Town Road (qv). Early
arched side porticoes linked by central blind arch to form arcaded screens. Square-headed doorways with reeded C19, partly rebuilt in facsimile 1971-2. Stucco with rusticated ground floor and plain 1st floor band. 3 storeys and basement. 3
jambs, cornice-heads and panelled doors. Recessed sashes. Gable ends with moulded coping and plain band windows. Round-arched doorway with fluted surround, fanlight with intersecting tracery and panelled door. Recessed sashes.
forming pediments. INTERIORS: not inspected. SUBSIDIARY FEATURES: attached cast-iron railings with urn finials Parapet with moulded coping. INTERIOR: not inspected. SUBSIDIARY FEATURES: attached blind arcaded wall with moulded
to areas. (Survey of London: Vol. XIX, Old St Pancras and Kentish Town (St Pancras part II): London: -1938: 49) coping to right forming a screen with the side portico of No.3 (qv).
J947 GRAND UNION HOUSE, 20 KENTISH TOWN ROAD, LONDON NW1 9NX DECEMBER 2018
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27. NUMBER 46 KENTISH TOWN ROAD, 1B, 1C, 1D, 1F, JEFFREYS STREET

W 4

IoE Number: 478602

Location: 46 KENTISH TOWN ROAD (east side), CAMDEN TOWN, CAMDEN, GREATER LONDON
Photographer: Mr Jason Wen

Date Photographed: 04 February 2007

Date listed: 14 May 1974

Date of last amendment: 11 January 1999

Grade Il

CAMDEN TQ2884SE JEFFREY'S STREET 798-1/65/963 N0.1B, C, D AND E 14/05/74 GV Il See under: No.46 KENTISH TOWN
ROAD. CAMDEN TQ2884SE KENTISH TOWN ROAD 798-1/65/963 (East side) 14/05/74 No.46 (Formerly Listed as: KENTISH
TOWN ROAD No.46) GV Il Formerly known as: Nos.44 AND 46 KENTISH TOWN ROAD. Includes: No.1B, C, D AND E
JEFFREY'S STREET. 2 semi-detached houses. Former No.44 (now flats 1B, C, D and E Jeffrey's Street) on the right hand return
of No.46; the rear of former No.44 forming No.1 and 1A Jeffrey's Street (qv). Early C19, partly rebuilt in facsimile 1971-2.
Stucco with rusticated ground floor and plain 1st floor band. 3 storeys and basements. No.46, 4 windows; former No.44, 3
windows on gabled end. No.46, round-arched doorway with fluted surround, fanlight with intersecting tracery and panelled
door; former doorway in left hand bay converted to a window. Recessed sashes. Parapet with moulded coping. Former
No.44, square-headed doorway with fanlight and panelled door. Recessed sashes. Gable with moulded coping. INTERIORS:
not inspected.

J947 GRAND UNION HOUSE, 20 KENTISH TOWN ROAD, LONDON NW1 9NX
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28. NUMBERS 48 AND 50 AND ATTACHED RAILINGS

IoE Number: 478603

Location: NUMBERS 48 AND 50 AND ATTACHED RAILINGS, 48 AND 50, KENTISH TOWN ROAD, CAMDEN TOWN,
CAMDEN, GREATER LONDON

Date listed: 14 May 1974

Date of last amendment: 11 January 1999

Grade Il

2 semi-detached houses. Early C19. Stucco with rusticated ground floor; pitched roof with central slab chimney-
stack. 3 storeys and basements. Gabled central section of 3 windows (centre blind) with 1 window entrance bays,
recessed at 1st floor level, and later C19 one window extension at north end of No.50. Round-arched doorways with
panelled jambs, fanlights and panelled doors. Recessed sashes; extension to No.50 ground floor with round-arched
sash and 2nd floor, round-arched casement flanked by pilasters supporting gable. INTERIORS: not inspected.
SUBSIDIARY FEATURES: attached wrought-iron railings to areas and steps. (Survey of London: Vol. XIX, Old St
Pancras and Kentish Town (St Pancras part I1): London: -1938: 49).

DECEMBER 2018

HERITAGE ASSESSMENT: APPENDIX C — DESIGNATIONS
j947 2018.12.05 GUH HA_App C (Designations) v1c_FINAL.docx

Page 18 of 26
© Ettwein Bridges Architects



29. NUMBERS 57-63 AND ATTACHED GARDEN RAILINGS, WALL, PILLAR AND GATE

ETTWEIN BRIDGES

ARCHITECTS

30. NUMBER 55 KENTISH TOWN ROAD

IoE Number: 478606

Location: NUMBERS 57-63 AND ATTACHED GARDEN RAILINGS, WALL, PILLAR AND GATE, 57-63 KENTISH TOWN ROAD
(west side), CAMDEN TOWN, CAMDEN, GREATER LONDON

Photographer: Charles Watson

Date Photographed: February 2017

Date listed: 14 May 1974

Date of last amendment: 14 May 1974

Grade Il

CAMDEN TQ2884SE KENTISH TOWN ROAD 798-1/65/967 (West side) 14/05/74 Nos.57-63 (Odd) and attached garden
railings, wall, pillar and gate GV Il 2 pairs of semi-detached villas. Early C19. Stucco with slated hipped roofs and central slab
chimney-stacks. 2 storeys and semi-basements. 1 window each and 1-window recessed entrance bay each side. Pilasters
rise from ground floor at angles and centrally to carry an entablature with egg-and-dart ovolo cornice at eaves level. Square-
headed doorways with fanlights and panelled doors; Nos 57 & 59 with floating console bracketed cornices; Nos 61 & 63
with rosette decorated architraves and console bracketed cornices. Recessed sashes; ground floors architraved with console
bracketed cornices, Nos 57, 61 & 63 with cast-iron balconies. INTERIORS: not inspected. SUBSIDIARY FEATURES: No.63 with
attached cast-iron garden railings on stone capped sleeper wall with stone capped pillar and cast-iron gate.

J947 GRAND UNION HOUSE, 20 KENTISH TOWN ROAD, LONDON NW1 9NX

IoE Number: 478605

Location: 55, KENTISH TOWN ROAD, CAMDEN TOWN, CAMDEN, GREATER LONDON
Photographer: Charles Watson

Date Photographed: February 2017

Date listed: 14 May 1974

Date of last amendment: 14 May 1974

Grade Il

Detached villa. Early C19, restored c1979. Yellow stock brick with slated pitched roof with pitched dormers. Double
fronted with 3 windows; 2 storeys, attic and semi-basement. Stucco pilasters at angles rise from ground floor level
to carry entablature with egg-and-dart ovolo cornice at eaves level. Central prostyle portico; doorway with fanlight
and panelled door approached by steps with attached cast-iron railings. Recessed sashes; ground floor architraved

with console bracketed cornices and cast-iron balconies. INTERIOR: not inspected.

DECEMBER 2018

HERITAGE ASSESSMENT: APPENDIX C — DESIGNATIONS
j947 2018.12.05 GUH HA_App C (Designations) v1c_FINAL.docx

Page 19 of 26
© Ettwein Bridges Architects



31. NO 1 HAWLEY ROAD
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32. THE ELEPHANT HOUSE INCLUDING FORMER COOPERS’ BUILDING, BOUNDARY WALLS AND GATE PIERS

IoE Number: 478176

Location: 1 HAWLEY ROAD (south side), CAMDEN TOWN, CAMDEN, GREATER LONDON
Photographer: Mr Steve Kirkland

Date Photographed: 02 April 2006

Date listed: 14 May 1974

Date of last amendment: 14 May 1974

Grade Il

CAMDEN TQ2884SE HAWLEY ROAD 798-1/65/791 (South side) 14/05/74 No.1 GV Il Detached villa. Early C19. Stucco.
Slated hipped roof with projecting eaves. Double fronted with 3 windows; 2 storeys and semi-basement. Pilasters rise from
ground floor at angles and from 1st floor level flanking central window to carry entablature with egg-and-dart ovolo cornice
at eaves level. Central prostyle Doric portico with cornice, blocking course and cast-iron balcony to 1st floor window.
Doorway with fanlight and panelled door, approached by steps with attached cast-iron railings. Recessed sashes; ground
floor architraved with console bracketed cornices and cast-iron balconies. INTERIOR: not inspected.

J947 GRAND UNION HOUSE, 20 KENTISH TOWN ROAD, LONDON NW1 9NX

IoE Number: 505232

Location: THE ELEPHANT HOUSE INCLUDING FORMER COOPERS' BUILDING, BOUNDARY WALLS AND GATE PIERS,
HAWLEY CRESCENT, CAMDEN TOWN, CAMDEN, GREATER LONDON

Date listed: 17-Feb-2009

Grade Il

Photo source: http://manchesterhistory.net/architecture/1920/elephanthouse.html

The Elephant House and the adjoining coopers' building, boundary walls and gate piers are designated for listing for
the following principal reasons: * special architectural interest of the Elephant House's rhythmic curved elevations
with giant order pilasters, good quality brickwork, and cheerful details including decorative panels of brick and
terracotta; * even the elevation to the yard and the cooper's building, which lack the exuberance of the public
frontages, are well crafted and detailed * the buildings were designed by the pre-eminent architect of ornamental
breweries, William Bradford, who often included features which served as an advert for the brewery's products, in
this case Elephant's Head Pale Ale; * increasingly rare surviving industrial complex in the inner-city and alongside
London's early-C19 Regent's Canal.

798-1/0/10364 HAWLEY CRESCENT 17-FEB-09 The Elephant House including former coopers' building, boundary
walls and gate piers

Il Former bottle store, coopers' building and boundary walls. 1900-1 by William Bradford for the Camden Brewery.
Minor later alterations.

BOTTLE STORE: now called the Elephant House and the most prominent building on the site, a two storey plus
basement building with two parallel ranges under a double pitched roof running east-west along the curve of
Hawley Crescent. The building is constructed of red brick on an engineering brick plinth with sandstone and rubbed
brick detailing and renewed slate roofs. The elevations to Hawley Crescent and to Kentish Town Road are the most
decorative, as befitting their position overlooking public thoroughfares, and are well-detailed and well-crafted.
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(The Elephant House designation entry continued..)

They are articulated by rhythmic giant order brick pilasters, moulded brick cornices, and panels of decoration
including sunflowers, a date stone (in the raised central parapet of the Hawley Street frontage) and the
eponymous sandstone elephant's head (above the door to Kentish Town Road). Historic photographs show that
the blank panels in the parapets once bore incised lettering announcing the name of the brewery; both parapets
were formerly pedimented, with a second elephant's head relief in the Hawley Crescent parapet. The windows
have rubbed brick segmental arches with sandstone keystones and metal panes in a variety of designs, some
with rose-shaped bosses; there are nine bays to Hawley Crescent and three to Kentish Town Road. A short flight
of steps leads up to the central door with granite surround on the Kentish Town Road elevation; the two
windows to either side have rounded-headed relieving arches. The double gable end to the yard is simpler, but
well-built nonetheless, with rubbed brick arches to the windows, cornices and projecting central sections with
inset round-headed gauged brick window arches. There are former taking-in bays to the left and in the centre of
the elevation which are much wider than the windows and have engineering brick surrounds. These, and a large
iron hoist, lend the building industrial character.

INTERIOR: the concrete floors, with jack-arched vaulting to the ground floor, are supported by cast iron columns
with bell capitals and concrete beams. Two original staircases, one of timber and the other of concrete with a
metal balustrade, survive as do the timber roof trusses. In the Brewers Journal of 1901, the building was noted,
unusually for a brewery building, as having lifts. The lift shafts survive, but the lifts themselves have been
modernised.

COOPERS' BUILDING: The smaller building, facing the canalside, is a former coopers and has the same detailing
to its yard-elevation as the bottle store. The canalside frontage is the most decorative and has an oculus in the
gable with, like the other windows, gauged brickwork and stone keystones. There is a taking-in bay with
surviving timber doors at the canal's waterline level and a second large bay leading out to the yard. The timber
ladder-like stair and a cast iron spiral staircase survive inside the building, although the latter has been moved
from its original position, and the timber roof trusses are also unchanged. Like the Elephant House, this first
floor of this building also has jack-arched vaulting. The 1921 Goad maps suggest that the second floor was used
for storing chaff, a byproduct of brewing.

BOUNDARY WALLS: run in two sections: east-west between the former bottle store and the second, smaller
building; and east-west along the boundary to Hawley Crescent between the former bottle store and the MTV
building. The walls have lower courses of engineering brick, upper ones of red brick, stone capping and recessed
panels in the brickwork along the Hawley Street side. The gate piers are a similar design, with turning stones at
their bases, and support wrought-iron gates.

HISTORY: Brewing became a major industry in the C18 and early C19 and brewery buildings from this period are
often monumental in scale, though architecturally utilitarian or in a very plain, classical style. In the mid to late

C19, however, a competitive trading environment and the influence of a small number of brewery architects led

to the emergence of the 'ornamental brewery'. Just as brewery buildings now functioned as an advertisement for
the brewery's products, so images of brewery plants featured in beer advertising from the 1890s. On this site in
Camden, the contrast between the fragment of surviving mid-C19 brewery along the canalside and the Elephant
House illustrates this development well.

ETTWEIN BRIDGES

ARCHITECTS

William Bradford was the leading brewery architect of the last quarter of the C19 and built or adapted over seventy
buildings. He was one of the first brewers' architects to emphasise the importance of architectural detail in brewery
construction in his own designs and publications such as Notes of Maltings and Breweries of 1889. The Elephant
House building illustrates how Bradford used good brickwork and decorative terracotta to transform what might
have been functional, industrial buildings into an advertisement for a commercial enterprise. The elephant's head
which appears above the main entrance to the bottle store on Kentish Town Road was the trademark of the Camden
Brewery and one of their products was Elephant Pale Ale. Bradford commonly incorporated the names or logos of
breweries in his designs, which may explain his popularity with brewers. By the end of the C19 this approach had
become commonplace and Bradford's obituary in the Builder in 1919 noted: 'there are few towns in which he has
not left some mark of his work, most of his brewery buildings bearing to a marked degree an individuality quite his

own.

REASONS FOR DESIGNATION: The former bottle stores (now Elephant House) and the adjoining coopers' building,
boundary walls and gate piers are listed Grade Il for the following principal reasons: * special architectural interest
of the Elephant House's rhythmic curved elevations with giant order pilasters, good quality brickwork, and cheerful
details including decorative panels of brick and terracotta; * even the elevation to the yard and the cooper's
building, which lack the exuberance of the public frontages, are well-crafted and detailed; * the buildings were
designed by the pre-eminent architect of ornamental breweries, William Bradford, who often included features
which served as an advert for the brewery's products, in this case Elephant's Head Pale Ale; * increasingly rare
surviving industrial complex in the inner-city and alongside London's early-C19 Regent's Canal.
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33. HAMPSTEAD ROAD BRIDGE OVER GRAND UNION CANAL 34. REGENTS CANAL CENTRE
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IoE Number: 476806 IoE Number: 476803
Location: HAMPSTEAD ROAD BRIDGE OVER GRAND UNION CANAL, CAMDEN HIGH STREET , CAMDEN TOWN, CAMDEN, Location: REGENTS CANAL INFORMATION CENTRE, 289 CAMDEN HIGH STREET (west side), CAMDEN TOWN, CAMDEN,
GREATER LONDON GREATER LONDON
Photographer: Mr Steve Kirkland Photographer: Mr Steve Kirkland
Date Photographed: 04 December 2005 Date Photographed: 04 December 2005
Date listed: 11 January 1999 Date listed: 14 May 1974
Date of last amendment: 11 January 1999 Date of last amendment: 11 January 1999
Grade Il Grade Il
CAMDEN TQ2884SE CAMDEN HIGH STREET 798-1/65/151 Hampstead Road Bridge over Grand Union Canal GV Il Public CAMDEN TQ2884SE CAMDEN HIGH STREET 798-1/65/149 (West side) 14/05/74 No.289 Regent's Canal Information Centre
road bridge over the Grand Union Canal and towpaths. 1876, replacing an earlier inadequate brick bridge of c1815. (Formerly Listed as: GRAND UNION CANAL Lock Keeper's Cottage (N0.289 Camden High Street)) GV Il Lock keeper's cottage,
Provided by the St Pancras Vestry and the Metropolitan Board of Works. Slightly cambered cast-iron girder bridge. Cast-iron now the Regent's Canal Information Centre. Early C19 with additions and alterations c1975. Stucco. 2 storeys, 1 window with
panelled parapets with relief moulded rectangles; similar parapets on bridge deck provide pedestrian walkways. Brick single storey 3-window entrance wing. Segmental arched doorway and panelled door facing canal; left return with similar
abutments with stone coping. Stone plaque in north-east abutment recording the rebuilding. doorway and double glazed doors. Segmental arched sashes; 1st floor in large shallow rectangular recess. Plain stucco band at

cornice level. Crenellated parapet and 2 tall slab chimney-stacks. INTERIOR: not inspected. The building was extended, stuccoed
and crenellated c1975.
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35. HOUSE (FORMER CAMDEN TOWN ROWTON HOUSE)

IoE Number: 505028

Location: ARLINGTON HOUSE (FORMER CAMDEN TOWN ROWTON HOUSE), ARLINGTON ROAD, CAMDEN TOWN,
CAMDEN, GREATER LONDON

Photographer: Emily Gee

Date photographed: 2012

Date listed: 24-Jan-2011

Grade Il

Il Men's Lodging House, opened in 1905, refurbished 1983-88 and 2008-10. Designed by Harry Bell Measures
FRIBA. Refurbished 1983-8 and 2009-10 by Levitt Bernstein Architects.

Arlington House, formerly the Camden Town Rowton House opened in 1905, was recommended for listing at
Grade Il for the following principal reasons: * Architectural: an imposing landmark of a thoughtful design with
richly detailed terra cotta dressings and distinctive roofscape; its scale and attention to detail reflect both its
function and the idealism of its origins. * Historical: the last and largest of London's well-known Rowton Houses,
built to provide accommodation for single men in the late C19 and early C20. Its origins and development
through the C20 illustrate a little-recognised aspect of working-class history. * State of external preservation:
the best-preserved of London's Rowton Houses, representing Measures' recognisable Rowton House design.
Recent restoration work has further revealed the quality of its elevational treatment. The interior is now much
altered to suit modern requirements, but the plan and character of the arched corridors survives. * Comparative
quality and significance: it matches the interest of one other former men's hostel designed by Measures in
Birmingham (Grade IlI), the two listed LCC men's hostels of the period (Carrington House and Bruce House, both
Grade Il) and the listed women's equivalent, Ada Lewis Women's Lodging House (Grade I1).
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36. PALMERS PET STORES

IoE Number: 505028

Location: PALMERS PET STORES, 35-7, PARKWAY, CAMDEN TOWN, CAMDEN, GREATER LONDON
Photographer: Roger Bowdler

Date photographed: June 2013

Date listed: 31-Jul-2007

Grade Il

Pet shop, c1938, on ground floor of two 1820s terraced houses.

SUMMARY OF IMPORTANCE: 35-37 Parkway are a pair of early C19 terraced houses which in c1921 were converted
to retail use by Palmers Pet Stores. The shop front, dating from around 1938, is of special historic interest as a rare
survival of a pet shop advertising exotic pets in the distinctive sign panels which read '"MONKEYS' and 'TALKING
PARROTS'. The shop front's significance is enhanced by its proximity to London Zoo, also articulated in the shop
front lettering 'REGENT PET STORES'. The building is also of special architectural interest. Firstly, the elegant 1930s
shop front has good points of detail including brass surrounds to the curved glass side windows and circular
parterae marking each corner of the panels; secondly there is good survival of late Georgian features, including sash
windows and door cases with fluted surrounds, which relate to the first phase of the building's development as a
pair of terraced houses.
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